RECEIVED

Dec 09 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from the State Grand Jury

Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MICHAEL JUAN SMITH,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2023-001893

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SARAH E. SHIPE
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the trial court erred excluding Mr. Lyles's prior statement to law enforcement where (1) the court incorrectly found Lyles was unavailable pursuant to Rule 804, SCRE and that no exception applied under that Rule and where (2) his statement was admissible under the recorded recollection exception to hearsay pursuant to Rule 803(5)?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 15, 2021, the state grand jury indicted Michael J. Smith for conspiracy, assault and battery by mob, first degree, and prisoner carrying or concealing a weapon. *R. On December 4-8, 2023, Mr. Smith was tried before the Honorable Ferrell Cothran and a jury. Dec. 4-6, Tr. 1; Dec. 7-8, Tr. 1. Aimee Zmroczek represented Mr. Smith. Prosecuting for the state were assistant attorney general, Barney Giese, and assistant attorney general, Margaret Scott. Dec. 4-6, Tr. 1; Dec. 7-8, Tr. 1.

On December 8, 2023, the jury found Mr. Smith guilty as indicted. Dec. 7-8, Tr. 196, ll. 7-16. Judge Cothran sentenced Mr. Smith to an aggregate term of forty years' imprisonment. Dec. 7-8, Tr. 205, l. 23—206, l. 8.

This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court and its ruling will not be disturbed in the absence of a manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice.” *State v. Douglas*, 369 S.C. 424, 429, 632 S.E.2d 845, 847–48 (2006). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” *Id.* at 429–30, 632 S.E.2d at 848.

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred excluding Mr. Lyles’s prior statement to law enforcement where (1) the court incorrectly found Lyles was unavailable pursuant to Rule 804, SCRE and that no exception applied under that Rule and where (2) his statement was admissible under the recorded recollection exception to hearsay pursuant to Rule 803(5).

Introductory facts

On April 15, 2018, there was a large-scale incident involving three dorms, F1, F3, and F5 at Lee Correctional Institution, in Lee County that resulted in the death of seven inmates and several more injured inmates. The previous November, Lee Correctional (Lee) received two hundred and fifty-six additional men. The men were moved from McCormick Correctional institution where there had been a massive incident lasting days. In December 2017, there was a man killed at Lee. Dec. 4-6, Tr. 106, l. 20—108, l. 12.

Edward Tisdale, associate warden of operations at Lee, testified the institution was understaffed at the time of the incident. Dec. 4-6, Tr. 109, ll. 5-22. He admitted there should have been five officers working in F1 dorm but there were only two working on April 15, 2018. Dec. 4-6, Tr. 110, ll. 4-16. Tisdale testified that “no locks worked in the F5” dorm. He said “[e]verybody all the way up to the deputy director of operations knew the locks did not work in the F5 unit.” However, he was unaware that there were any locks not working in F1 dorm. Dec. 4-6, Tr. 113, l. 14—114, l. 4; 122, ll. 13-21. Tisdale testified contraband—including cell phones and weapons—was a major problem at Lee. Dec. 4-6, Tr. 120, 4-19; 125, ll. 12-24.

Tisdale said the incident began in dorm F3 around seven in the evening. Dec. 4-6, Tr. 81, ll. 3-17. A man was stabbed in dorm F3. He said the incident caused the men in F3 to refuse to lockdown in their assigned cells for evening count. Tisdale testified their refusal to go into their

assigned cells was a security problem. Staff was unable to get the injured man removed to receive medical help. Dec. 4-6, Tr. 81, l. 16—82, l. 20.

Next, there was an incident in dorm F5. The men in F5 began “breaching the fence” trying to escape. Dec. 4-6, Tr. 86, ll. 4-20. Tisdale said there were twenty to thirty men in the yard that were armed. Dec. 4-6, Tr. 92, l. 2-11. Tisdale testified there were a group of men stabbing another group of men. Those not involved were trying to escape. The men were so scared they climbed over concertina wire injuring themselves. Dec. 4-6, Tr. 90, l. 10—91, l. 14. Some of the men were climbing over the fences some were going to the F1 dorm building. Dec. 4-6, Tr. 92, ll.

Tisdale stated the night “was extremely chaotic, the logistics were a nightmare,” “chaotic is not even the word to describe it. It went completely crazy.” Dec. 4-6, Tr. 94, ll. 9-25. He testified twenty-two people left Lee needing medical attention. Dec. 4-6, Tr. 94, ll. 10-23.

Officer Clive Lopez testified he was working in F1 on the evening of the incident. He admitted that he was unable to lockdown F1 dorm because “there was no institutional control.” Dec. 4-6, Tr. 318, ll. 13-20. Lopez stated, “I didn’t feel safe trying to lock anyone down . . . there were inmates walking around with weapons.” Dec. 4-6, Tr. 318, ll. 20-24. Lopez testified on cross-examination he did not know how to handle the incident. “I don’t think we’re trained to deal with this situation.” Dec. 4-6, Tr. 350, ll. 12-18. Lopez was not present on the B side of F1 when Cornelius McClary was injured. Dec. 4-6, Tr. 335, ll. 12-15.

State’s exhibit 4, recording of surveillance cameras from F1 show the incident.¹

Michael Smith was housed at Lee in dorm F1. Mr. Smith was transferred from Perry Correctional to Lee in October 2017. Dec. 7-8, Tr. 8-9; 12, ll. 16-25. Smith described the atmosphere at Lee as “scary” because it was out of control. Dec. 7-8, Tr. 15, ll. 9-15. Smith said

¹ State’s exhibit 4 is on file with the Court.

on the evening of the incident word traveled to F1 there was a riot in other dorms. Dec. 7-8, Tr. 21, ll. 9-22. He testified there were pictures being shown on contraband cell phones of what was happening in other dorms, and he saw “friends dying.” Dec. 7-8, Tr. 22, ll. 3-24. Smith became very scared because he knew that this group of guys would do the same thing to him. He also knew one correctional officer could not save him. Dec. 7-8, Tr. 23, ll. 1-14; 24, ll. 1-12.

Smith heard his friend Ray Ray yelling and went towards him. When he got there another man, McClary, was with his friend and Ray Ray was bleeding. McClary told him that he was going to kill him next. Smith testified he fought back against McClary to protect Ray Ray and himself. Dec. 7-8, Tr. 31-37.

Smith and a group of other men are seen in a physical altercation with McClary. Dec. 7-8, Tr. 31-37; State’s exhibit 4, (F1 B, LeftPTZ Camera at 22:00:26-22:01:58). State’s exhibit 4, shows Smith stabbing and hitting McClary. The recording also shows Smith backing a big group of men off McClary once McClary is clearly hurt. State’s exhibit 4, (F1 B, LeftPTZCamera at 22:00:26-22:01:58; F1 B, RightPTZ Camera 21:59:46-22:01:32). Ultimately McClary died. Dec. 4-6, Tr. 358, ll. 12-13; 359, ll. 1-20.

Proffered testimony

During the defense case counsel for Mr. Smith proffered testimony of Mr. Lyles an inmate that was present at the F1 dorm incident. Dec. 7-8, Tr. 91-95. The following testimony was given:

THE COURT: Obviously there’s not a jury present. Mr. Smith’s lawyer needs to ask you questions if you could respond to whether you remember them or not. Okay.

MR. LYLES: **I don’t want to talk. I want to part of this.**²

² Counsel submits this is a typographical error in the transcription and Mr. Lyles actually said, I want *no* part of this.

THE COURT: I understand but you've got to at least sit down. I've got to put some things on the record. Okay.

MR. LYLES: Okay.

...

Q: Mr. Lyles, my name is Aimee Zmroczek. We met briefly earlier. I understand you don't want to be here. I just need to ask you a few questions. Okay? Do you recall giving a statement to Agent Shaw, Special Agent Kevin Blake and John Hollingsworth from the South Carolina Attorney General's office on January 31st of 2020?

A: No ma'am.

Q: You don't recall? We just have to record it. So I know you don't want to be here but if you can just speak up for me.

A: No ma'am.

Q: You don't recall?

A: No ma'am.

Q: Okay. Do you recall that they transported you to the Richland County Sheriff's --- Excuse me to the Richland County courthouse from the detention center and had you look at images, sign your name and identify certain individuals?

A: No ma'am.

Q: You don't recall that?

A: No ma'am.

Q: And do you recall in that statement telling Agent Shaw and the others I've mentioned that you provided some background conditions at Lee correctional that included you staying on the east yard for one week. Do you recall that?

A: No ma'am.

Q: Do you recall that when you were assigned to a cell on the west, and then you were assigned to a cell on the west yard, do you recall that?

A: No ma'am.

Q: Do you recall stating that all the doors at Lee Correctional stayed swinging and were never locked?

A: No ma'am.

Q: Do you recall stating that inmates conducted the count for the correctional officers?

A: No ma'am.

Q: Do you recall stating that on April 15, 2018, that you were located in the A side dorm napped approximately two or 3pm until just before 9pm?

A: No ma'am.

Q: Do you recall stating that you woke and traveled to the B side of the F1 dorm?

A: No ma'am.

Q: Do you recall stating that you knew a Blood --- you observed a Blood gang member you knew as Ray Ray holding clothing to his neck because he had been stabbed?

A: No ma'am.

Q: Do you recall gangs conducting Blood calls?

A: No ma'am.

Q: Do you recall hearing people yelling on the ---Stating that you heard people yelling on the walk above the cell you were located in.

A: No ma'am.

Q: Do you recall saying that you observed a machete like shank dropped from the upstairs walkway?

A: No ma'am.

Q: Do you recall stating that you then saw a bloody individual you knew to be a Crip gang member fall down the left side stairs?

A: No ma'am.

Q: And do you recall them reading your Miranda warnings during that time or before this interview?

A: No ma'am.

Q: Okay. Do you recall identifying this individual in your handwriting as Ray Ray saying stabbed in neck?

A: No ma'am.

MS. ZMROCZEK: Your Honor, those would be the extent of the questions that I would ask Mr. Lyles.

THE COURT: Okay. Does the state have anything you want to add?

MR. CONRAD: In terms of questions? The only question I would ask is ...

Q: Sir, do you recall in that same interview that Ms. Zmroczek was referring to, do you recall stating that you heard a ...

MS. ZMROCZEK: I would object to hearsay.

MR. CONRAD: It's proffer.

THE COURT: Okay go ahead.

Q: Do you recall hearing an inmate named Rico who you identify as a Blood leader scream, if you Crips, you got 10 minutes to get out of the building or you die?

A: No sir.

Dec. 7-8, Tr. 91-95 (emphasis added).

After the proffer, counsel for Mr. Smith, argued Mr. Lyles' prior statement to law enforcement was admissible pursuant to Rule 803(5), SCRE. Dec. 7-8, 95, l. 20—96, l. 17. Counsel contended Lyles was not "unavailable," as defined in Rule 804, SCRE, but rather Mr. Lyles was refusing to testify. Dec. 7-8, 96, l. 21—97, l. 23. Counsel asserted Mr. Lyles statement was admissible because Mr. Smith has a constitutional right to present a full and complete defense pursuant to *Kyles v. Whitley*, 514 U.S. 419 (1995).

The trial court found Mr. Lyles was "unavailable" pursuant to Rule 804, SCRE and that there was no exception in Rule 804 applicable to admit this evidence. The court stated, "he got on

the stand and [] didn't remember anything. It's not like he remembered parts and didn't remember parts. So he basically testifies to a lack of memory of the subject matter to the entire statement. He fits [804(a)(3)] exactly." Dec. 7-8, 96, l. 5—99, l. 7.

Discussion

Hearsay is inadmissible except as provided by statute, the South Carolina Rules of Evidence, or other court rules. Rule 802, SCRE; *State v. LaCoste*, 347 S.C. 153, 160, 553 S.E.2d 464, 468 (Ct. App. 2001). Our rules of evidence provide for hearsay exceptions where the availability of the declarant is immaterial. Rule 803(5) provides:

Recorded Recollection. A memorandum or record concerning a matter about which a witness once had knowledge but now has insufficient recollection to enable the witness to testify fully and accurately, shown to have been made or adopted by the witness when the matter was fresh in the witness' memory and to reflect that knowledge correctly. If admitted, the memorandum or record may be read into evidence but may not itself be received as an exhibit unless offered by an adverse party.)

Rule 803(5), SCRE (emphasis added).

(a) Definition of Unavailability. "Unavailability as a witness" includes situations in which the declarant--(1) is exempted by ruling of the court on the ground of privilege from testifying concerning the subject matter of the declarant's statement; or (2) persists in refusing to testify concerning the subject matter of the declarant's statement despite an order of the court to do so; or (3) testifies to a lack of memory of the subject matter of the declarant's statement; or (4) is unable to be present or to testify at the hearing because of death or then existing physical or mental illness or infirmity; or (5) is absent from the hearing and the proponent of a statement has been unable to procure the declarant's attendance (or in the case of a hearsay exception under subdivision (b)(2), (3), or (4), the declarant's attendance or testimony) by process or other reasonable means.

A declarant is not unavailable as a witness if exemption, refusal, claim of lack of memory, inability, or absence is due to the procurement or wrongdoing of the proponent of a statement for the purpose of preventing the witness from attending or testifying.

Rule 804, SCRE (emphasis added).

The trial court erred finding Mr. Lyles was “unavailable” pursuant to Rule 804(a)(3), SCRE (“unavailability of a witness includes situations where the declarant testifies to a lack of memory of the subject matter of the subject matter of the declarant’s statement). The trial court was singularly focused on the fact there was no exception within Rule 804 that applied to Mr. Lyles prior statement to police. Mr. Lyles was not unavailable pursuant to Rule 804, SCRE where he was refusing to testify to the prior statement likely out of fear as he was still incarcerated at the time of trial. The first words out of Mr. Lyles mouth were “I don’t want to talk.” Dec. 7-8, Tr. 91, ll. 10-11. It is also apparent from the nature of the case that a current inmate housed at a South Carolina Department of Corrections (SCDC) facility would likely not want to testify to the situation at Lee where they might face repercussions during their remaining sentence. The court erred finding Mr. Lyles was unavailable pursuant to Rule 804, SCRE and failing to admit the evidence under the recorded recollections exception to the rule against hearsay, Rule 803, SCRE.

Mr. Lyles prior statement to law enforcement regarding the incident at Lee was admissible under the recorded recollection exception to hearsay. Rule 803(5), SCRE (“[a] memorandum or record concerning a matter about which a witness once had knowledge but now has insufficient recollection to enable the witness to testify fully and accurately, shown to have been made or adopted by the witness when the matter was fresh in the witness' memory and to reflect that knowledge correctly . . . the memorandum or record may be read into evidence but may not itself be received as an exhibit unless offered by an adverse party.”).

Mr. Lyles understandable refusal to testify in Mr. Smith’s case should not preclude Smith from presenting a full defense to his charges. The jury heard testimony of SCDC employees, some witnessed the events of April 15, 2018, some did not. Additionally, the jury saw ample video of the incident without any sound and with suggested context given by SCDC employees. The jury

heard Mr. Smith's testimony of what occurred that evening. However, the jury did not hear testimony of any other individual that was witness to the incident in F1. Mr. Lyles prior statement to law enforcement was central to Mr. Smith's ability to present his case of self-defense and he was precluded from presenting a full and fair defense by the trial court's erroneous exclusion of this evidence.

CONCLUSION

Based on the forgoing argument, Mr. Smith's convictions should be reversed, and the case remanded to Lee County Court of General Sessions for a new trial.


Sarah E. Shipe
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT