RECEIVED

May 07 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEE COUNTY
R. Ferrell Cothran, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-001893

The State,Respondent,

v.

Michael Juan Smith,.....Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 8729
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

THE COURT: Okay go ahead.

Q: Do you recall hearing an inmate named Rico who you identify as a Blood leader scream, if you Crips, you got 10 minutes to get out of the building or you die?

A: No sir.

MR. CONRAD: That would be the only direct questions the State makes.

(R.p.464, line 7-p.468, line 14).

At the conclusion of the proffer, Appellant argued Lyles's prior statement should be admitted once non-relevant and hearsay portions were redacted. The trial judge asked what rule Appellant believed would make the statement admissible, commenting that Rule 804, SCRE,

deals with these exact circumstances—unavailability of a witness. The court asked what part of subsection (b) would allow admission of the hearsay. (R.p.468, line 20-p.469, line 9). Counsel responded: “Well, I don't think --- I believe that portions of what he said are not here or are excluded from hearsay because it was a statement given to law enforcement upon which they rely, but it also is a *recording recollection*. So 803(5) it's” (R.p.469, lines 13-23) (emphasis added). The trial court pointed out that Appellant fit the definition of “unavailable” in Rule 804(a)(3) because he testified as to a lack of memory of his prior statement. The court further noted Lyles did not appear to fit any exceptions in Rule 804(b) and requested further justification from Appellant. The trial court then took a lunch break to give Appellant “an hour to regroup.” (R.p.469, line 24-p.472, line 16).

After the lunch break, counsel for Appellant made her final pitch in support of admitting Lyles’s statement, arguing:

Okay. So, Your Honor, so obviously, Mr. Smith was provided the name of the person who provided testimony which supported the facts of his case, when we previously before lunch, proffered the testimony of that witness he indicated that he couldn't remember anything and clearly just not willing to participate. And, Your Honor, so we made the argument that we would have liked to have gotten the statements in under Article One section 14, under the right to present a statement page under a right to present a full and fair or a full and complete defense, Your Honor, in this case. And we understand that as as the law stands now, with the hearsay exception, that finding him unavailable and him not qualifying under any of the available hearsay exceptions, what I would have liked to do is then call the agent and lay the foundation that she did take the statement on this day. And that it's a report that she kept in her regular course of business and that it was provided, along with all of the evidence that they use to build the indictment on this case. And we certainly understand the Court's ruling that as the hearsay exception stand now that that would not be proper testimony. But that we wanted to make sure that we preserved that objection.

(R.p.474, line 8-p.475, line 5). Despite previously referencing Rule 803(5) and claiming the statement was a “recording recollection,” Appellant did not pursue this argument further and articulated no actual basis for how Rule 803(5) would allow for admission. Instead, counsel acknowledged the hearsay statement was not admissible under Rule 804 and argued for admission as a business record. (R.p.474, line 8-p.475, line 5). The trial court responded: “Okay. The record is so preserved.” (R.p.475, lines 6-7). The defense then rested without offering any additional evidence. (R.p.478). Appellant renewed his motion for a directed verdict and the trial court again denied that motion. (R.p.479).

Closing Arguments, Jury Charge, Verdict & Sentencing

After the trial court denied Appellant’s directed verdict motion and held a charge conference, the parties made closing arguments. (R.p.491-p.549). The trial judge then charged the jury on the roles of the judge and jury, the indictments, the State’s burden of proof, the presumption of innocence, reasonable doubt, credibility of witnesses, expert witnesses, criminal intent, direct and circumstantial evidence, self-defense, the elements of each offense, the defendant’s right to not testify, and the verdict forms. (R.p.553-p.568).

At the conclusion of trial, the jury found Appellant guilty as indicted. He was sentenced by Judge Cothran to thirty (30) years’ imprisonment for first-degree assault and battery by mob; ten (10) years’ consecutive imprisonment for possession of a weapon by prisoner; and five (5) years’ concurrent imprisonment for criminal conspiracy; for an aggregate sentence of forty (40) years’ imprisonment. (R.p.374, p.568-p.579; p.581-p.637).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, an appellate court sits to review only errors of law, and it is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. *State v. Brown*, 401 S.C. 82, 87, 736 S.E.2d 263, 265 (2012), *cert. denied*, 569 U.S. 1023 (2013); *State v. Wilson*, 345 S.C. 1, 6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). Our appellate courts give great deference when reviewing the evidentiary ruling of the trial court. *State v. Cross*, 427 S.C. 465, 473, 832 S.E.2d 281, 285 (2019); *State v. Davis*, 437 S.C. 93, 96, 876 S.E.2d 321, 322 (Ct. App. 2022). Indeed, the admission or exclusion of evidence is left to the sound discretion of the trial judge. *State v. Commander*, 396 S.C. 254, 262-63, 721 S.E.2d 413, 417 (2011); *State v. Edwards*, 373 S.C. 230, 234, 644 S.E.2d 66, 68 (Ct. App. 2007). The trial court's ruling on the admissibility of evidence will not be reversed on appeal absent abuse of discretion or the commission of legal error which results in prejudice to the defendant. *State v. McDonald*, 343 S.C. 319, 325, 540 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2000); *State v. Adams*, 354 S.C. 361, 377, 580 S.E.2d 785, 793 (Ct. App. 2003). An abuse of discretion occurs when the ruling lacks evidentiary support or is controlled by an error of law. *Brown*, 401 S.C. at 87, 736 S.E.2d at 265; *State v. Jennings*, 394 S.C. 473, 477-78, 716 S.E.2d 91, 93 (2011); *State v. Morris*, 376 S.C. 189, 205-06, 656 S.E.2d 359, 368 (2008); *McDonald*, 343 S.C. at 325, 540 S.E.2d at 467.

ARGUMENT

I.

Appellant's argument that the trial court erred in excluding Mr. Lyles's prior statement to law enforcement is not preserved for appellate review because Appellant abandoned the issue by failing to articulate any argument in support of admission under Rule 803(5), SCRE. In any event, the trial court properly excluded the statement as inadmissible hearsay under Rule 802, SCRE, where it did not qualify for an exception as a "recorded recollection" under Rule 803(5), SCRE, because Appellant failed to establish the necessary foundation for admission. Finally, any possible error in excluding Mr. Lyles's statement was harmless in this case because, beyond a reasonable doubt, it did not contribute to the jury's verdict.

Appellant argues the trial judge erred in excluding Mr. Lyles's prior statement to law enforcement: (1) because the trial court incorrectly found Lyles was "unavailable as a witness" pursuant to Rule 804, SCRE, and that no exception applied for admitting the hearsay under that Rule; and (2) because Lyles's statement was admissible under the "recorded recollection" exception to hearsay under Rule 803(5), SCRE. (Brief of Appellant, p.4-p.12). The State disagrees and submits Appellant's arguments should be denied and dismissed for several reasons. First, Appellant's Rule 804 argument is a red herring. Regardless of whether the trial court correctly concluded Mr. Lyles was available or unavailable, his statement was inadmissible under Rule 804, SCRE. Second, Appellant's Rule 803(5) argument is not preserved for appellate review because Appellant failed to sufficiently articulate any argument on the record in support of admission under Rule 803(5). In any event, the argument is without merit because the hearsay statement did not qualify for admission as a "recorded recollection" under Rule 803(5), SCRE. Finally, any error in excluding the statement was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt given the overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt. Appellant's convictions and sentence should be affirmed.

Rule 804, SCRE

Hearsay is an out-of-court statement offered in court to prove the truth of the matter asserted. *State v. Price*, 368 S.C. 494, 499, 629 S.E.2d 363, 366 (2006); *State v. Lindsey*, 394 S.C. 354, 360, 714 S.E.2d 554, 557 (Ct. App. 2011). The rule against hearsay prohibits the admission of evidence of an out of court statement to prove the truth of the matter asserted unless an exception to the rule applies. *Price*, 368 S.C. at 499, 629 S.E.2d 363 at 366 (citing Rule 802, SCRE); *Lindsey*, 368 S.C. at 360, 714 S.E.2d at 557 (citing Rule 802, SCRE). The South Carolina Rules of Evidence recognize two general groups of hearsay exceptions: one set that applies where the availability of the declarant is immaterial (Rule 803, SCRE); and another set that applies only if the declarant is “unavailable” (Rule 804, SCRE). Rule 804 defines “unavailability as a witness” to include one of five specific situations regarding a declarant who: (1) is exempted on the ground of privilege; (2) persists in refusing to testify; (3) testified to a lack of memory; (4) is unable to testify due to death, illness or infirmity; or (5) is absent and the proponent has been unable to procure the declarant’s attendance. Rule 804(a), SCRE. Here, if the trial court correctly concluded Appellant was “unavailable” as a witness, Mr. Lyles’s statement was inadmissible because, as explained by the trial judge, it did not qualify for any exception in subsection (b), exceptions which include: (1) former testimony; (2) a statement under belief of impending death; (3) a statement against interest; or (4) a statement of personal or family history. Rule 804(b), SCRE. If instead, the trial court erred and Appellant was somehow “available” as a witness, Rule 804 does not apply at all because its exceptions only cover witnesses who are “unavailable.” Under either scenario, Lyles’s hearsay statement was not admissible under Rule 804, SCRE.

Rule 803(5), SCRE – Issue not Preserved for Review

Appellant’s complaint about the trial court’s failure to admit Lyles’s statement under the “recorded recollection” exception to the rule against hearsay is not preserved for appellate review. In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, the issue must have been: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court; (2) raised by the Petitioner; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial court *with sufficient specificity*. *State v. Rogers*, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-13 (Ct. App. 2004) (emphasis added). “If a party fails to properly object, the party is procedurally barred from raising the issue on appeal.” *State v. Johnson*, 363 S.C. 53, 58-59, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005).

Error preservation rules do not require a party to use the exact name of a legal doctrine in order to preserve an issue for appellate review. *State v. Brannon*, 388 S.C. 498, 502, 697 S.E.2d 593, 595 (2010); *State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 694 (2003). Instead, a litigant is only required to fairly raise the issue to the trial court, thereby giving it an opportunity to rule on the issue. *Brannon*, 388 S.C. at 502, 697 S.E.2d at 595-96; *Hubbard v. Rowe*, 192 S.C. 12, 19, 5 S.E.2d 187, 189 (1939). Conversely, a litigant fails to fairly raise an issue to the trial court if he or she does not argue it with sufficient specificity to give the trial court the opportunity to make a ruling on that particular issue. Here, although Appellant mentioned Rule 803(5) in passing and used the similar sounding but incorrect term “recording recollection,” he then quickly abandoned any effort to explain to the judge how or why this hearsay exception would apply. Instead, Appellant focused on Rule 804, SCRE, and whether Lyles was “unavailable” as a witness. Even after an hour-long lunch break, Appellant continued his argument with absolutely no mention of Rule 803(5), SCRE. Consequently, Appellant’s Rule 803(5) argument is not preserved for appellate review and his convictions should be affirmed.

Rule 803(5), SCRE - Law / Analysis

As explained above, the rule against hearsay prohibits the admission of evidence of an out of court statement to prove the truth of the matter asserted unless an exception to the rule applies. *Price*, 368 S.C. at 499, 629 S.E.2d 363 at 366 (citing Rule 802, SCRE); *Lindsey*, 368 S.C. at 360, 714 S.E.2d at 557 (citing Rule 802, SCRE). Also as explained above, the South Carolina Rules of Evidence recognize a general group of hearsay exceptions that applies where the availability of the declarant is immaterial. Rule 803, SCRE. Except for modifications to subsections (4), (6), (8), (18), and (22), and the deletion of subsection (24) which contained a “catchall” or residual hearsay exception, Rule 803 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence is identical to the federal rule. Rule 803, SCRE cmt. background (2025). Under Rule 803, one of the twenty-three enumerated hearsay exceptions where the availability of the declarant is *immaterial* is the “recorded recollection.” Rule 803(5), SCRE.²

As explained in American Jurisprudence, a “past recollection recorded” occurs where a memorandum records a past recollection of the witness who, even after consulting the memorandum, cannot presently testify from independent memory as to the event in question *but is able to state that he or she once knew the facts and correctly recorded them in the memorandum*. 29A AM. JUR. 2D EVIDENCE § 1196 (2025) (emphasis added). Under such circumstances, the memorandum is admissible in evidence once it has been verified by the witness, notwithstanding its nature as hearsay and notwithstanding that the witness cannot effectively be cross-examined as to the matters stated in the memorandum. *Id.* However,

² Appellant argues in part that: “The trial court erred in finding Mr. Lyles was ‘unavailable’ pursuant to Rule 804(a)(3), SCRE.” (Brief of Appellant, p.11). As argued above, the State submits this argument is irrelevant to the substantive issue raised by Appellant to this Court—his contention that the trial court erred in failing to admit Mr. Lyles’s prior statement under the “recorded recollection” exception to the rule against hearsay in Rule 803(5), SCRE. Where the availability of the declarant is *immaterial* to the admissibility of a “recorded recollection,” any ruling by the trial court regarding the availability of the declarant is of no moment, and the State submits it should play no part in this Court’s appellate review.

admission of a past recollection recorded exception to the hearsay rule is proper only if: (1) the witness has no revivable recollection of the subject; (2) the witness has firsthand knowledge of the facts recorded; (3) *the witness can testify that the statement was truthful when made*; and (4) the recording was made when the events were fresh in the witness's memory. *Id.* (emphasis added). Similarly, under the Federal and Uniform Rules of Evidence, a record concerning a matter about which a witness once had knowledge but now has insufficient recollection to enable him or her to testify fully and accurately, *which is shown to have been made or adopted by the witness when the matter was fresh in his or her memory and to reflect that knowledge accurately*, is not excluded by the hearsay rule even though the declarant is available as a witness. 29A AM. JUR. 2D EVIDENCE § 1196 (2025) (emphasis added).

As noted above, in South Carolina the federal rule is essentially repeated in our rules of evidence, and specifically defines an admissible “recorded recollection” as:

A memorandum or record concerning a matter about which a witness once had knowledge but now has insufficient recollection to enable the witness to testify fully and accurately, *shown to have been made or adopted by the witness when the matter was fresh in the witness' memory and to reflect the knowledge correctly*. If admitted, the memorandum or record may be read into evidence but may not itself be received as an exhibit unless offered by an adverse party.

Rule 803(5), SCRE (emphasis added). This Court has emphasized that the party seeking to admit a recorded recollection under Rule 803(5) must first establish the proper foundation.

Lindsey, 394 S.C. at 360, 714 S.E.2d at 557. While the rule does not require a memorandum to have been prepared by the witness for it to be admissible as a recorded recollection, 29A AM. JUR. 2D EVIDENCE § 1199 (2025), the guarantee of trustworthiness for a recorded recollection is found in the reliability inherent in a record made while events were still fresh in mind *and* accurately reflecting them—both of which are foundational requirements. 93 A.L.R. FED. 2D 79

(2025). In regard to whether a recorded recollection correctly reflects the prior knowledge of the witness, this requirement is *only* satisfied where the witness has a present recollection of making a memorandum *and* can testify from present memory that he or she took care to ensure that the memorandum correctly reflected what he or she then knew. 29A AM. JUR. 2D EVIDENCE § 1197 (2025). “A statement which the witness fails to endorse as accurate generally cannot be admitted under this rule.” *Id.* Indeed, a statement cannot be said to correctly reflect the prior knowledge where the witness has expressly repudiated it on the stand. *Id.*

Here, Lyles refused to endorse the statement he gave to the investigators as accurate. Indeed, he effectively repudiated the alleged recorded recollection when he testified, three times in succession, that he did not remember giving a statement in the first place, (R.p.465, lines 4-16), and twice testified he did not remember signing his name to any such statement. (R.p.465, lines 17-24). He never even acknowledged it was in fact his signature. Under these circumstances, the testimony was properly excluded because it simply did not qualify for admission as a recorded recollection under Rule 803(5), SCRE. Thus the trial court did not abuse its discretion. Instead, the trial judge’s adherence to the limitations of the recorded recollection exception is evidenced by the decision to exclude the statement Appellant sought to introduce. There was no error in the trial judge’s exclusion of Lyles’s prior statement; therefore, that decision and Appellant’s convictions should be affirmed.

Rule 803(5), SCRE - Harmless Error

Appellate courts will generally not set aside a judgment based on insubstantial errors not affecting the result. *State v. Sherard*, 303 S.C. 172, 176, 399 S.E.2d 595, 597 (1991). Only errors so substantial that they result in a verdict which would not otherwise have been rendered require reversal. *State v. Jolly*, 304 S.C. 34, 39, 402 S.E.2d 895, 898 (Ct. App. 1991). “A

harmless error analysis is contextual and specific to the circumstances of the case.” *State v. Byers*, 392 S.C. 438, 447, 447–48, 710 S.E.2d 55, 60 (2011). “No definite rule of law governs [a finding of harmless error]; rather the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case. Error is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial.” *Id.* at 447–48, 710 S.E.2d at 60 (quoting *State v. Reeves*, 301 S.C. 191, 193–94, 391 S.E.2d 241, 243 (1990)). A defendant seeking reversal based on error in admission or exclusion of evidence has the burden of showing that evidence or lack thereof was prejudicial. *State v. McElveen*, 280 S.C. 325, 327, 313 S.E.2d 298, 299 (1984).

The State submits any error in the exclusion of Lyles’s statement was harmless because admitting the statement would have been insubstantial in view of the evidence presented of Appellant’s guilt, such that it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. *See State v. Watts*, 321 S.C. 158, 467 S.E.2d 272 (Ct. App. 1996) (stating that error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt if it does not contribute to the verdict). The State presented overwhelming evidence of Appellant’s guilt including videotape recordings showing Appellant with a sharp weapon in his hand followed by Appellant stabbing and punching McClary during the mob assault that led to his death. Multiple witnesses identified Appellant in the video recordings as one of McClary’s attackers. Given the overwhelming evidence of guilt, the State submits the absence of Lyles’s statement could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial, and any error was harmless. *Byers*, 392 S.C. at 447-48, 710 S.E.2d at 243; *See State v. Watts*, 321 S.C. 158, 467 S.E.2d 272 (Ct. App. 1996) (stating that error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt if it does not contribute to the verdict). Indeed, Appellant has not shown the requisite prejudice to support reversal of the convictions. *State v. Price*, 368 S.C. at 499, 629 S.E.2d at 366. In view of the very specific, detailed video recordings of the mob attack and identification evidence

adduced at trial, any possible errors arising from the exclusion of Lyles's statement was harmless, and did not have an impact on the verdict. Therefore, Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that Appellant's convictions and sentence be affirmed.